
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

\t

1. .JARED MITCHELL ROTHENBERGER,

Defendant.

THE UNITED STATES GRAND .]URY CHARGES THAT:

The Scheme to Defraud at Chateau Ridge

1. Chateau Ridge was a real estate development in Burnsville,

Minnesota.

2. From on or about August 24, 2006 and continuing until

approxj-mately ,JuIy 15, 2007, ,JARED MITCHELL ROTHENBERGER and others

known and unknown to the grand jury conspired and agreed to engage

in a scheme to defraud t,hrough the submission of materially false

information to lenders financing sales of condominium units at

Chateau Ridge.

3. The scheme involved ROTHENBERGER and oEhers finding buyers

to apply for mortgage loans to purchase unj-ts at the development and

then sharing proceeds of the loans obtained to buy the units. The

paynrents from loan proceeds were not ful1y and accurately disclosed

to lenders or described in the documentation prepared for closings

and provided to lenders.
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U.S. v. 'Jared MiEchell Rothenberger

4. It was further part, of the scheme to defraud that payments

from mortgage loan proceeds were made outside of t,he property sale

closings.

5. Among the payments were kickbacks to buyers whlch amounted

to a hidden dj-scount off the purchase price not disclosed to lenders

and kickbacks to other scheme parLicipants.

The document,ation regarding payment of funds in connection

with a real estate transaction is material information to a lender.

The sharing of funds outside of closing is material information to

a lender.

7. IT

transactions,

purchase price

purchase of

was further part of the scheme that in some

ROTHENBERGER provided funds to be applied toward the

of a unit. The source of funds deposited toward the

a unit is maLerial information to a lender.

ROTHENBERGER's assistance was noL disclosed Lo the lenders financl-ng

Chateau Ridge sales.

couN'T 1
(Conspiracy to Commit Wlre

8. Paragraphs l-7 are hereby

reference.

Fraud - Chateau

realleged and

Ridge)

incorporated by

9. From on or about August 24, 2006 and continuing until

approximately,July 15, 2007, in the State and District of Minnesota

and elsewhere, the defendant,

TARED MITCHEI,I, ROTHENBERGER,
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U.S. v. ,fared Mitchell Rothenberger

did unlawfully and knowingly combine, conspire, and agree with ot'hers

known and unknown to commit an offense against the United StaLes,

namely,

having devised and intending Lo devj-se a scheme and
art,ifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by
means of materially false and frauduLent pretenses,
representatj-ons, and promises, for the purpose of
execuLing the scheme and art,ifice, and attempLing to do
so, t,ransmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate commerce, dflY writings,
signs, slgnals, picLures and sounds, in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 1-343.

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRiACY

L0. The purpose of the conspiracy was Eo defraud lenders

f inancing t,he sale of Chateau Ridge units.

MAI{NER AI{D MEAIIS

L1-. The manner and means of Lhe conspiracy included paying

Chateau Ridge buyers and other participants in the scheme a kj-ckback

from mortgage loan proceeds and failing to truthfully disclose to

lenders the sharing of loan proceeds.

OVERT ACTS

1,2. In furtherance of the conspiracy, a co-conspirator

committed one of the following overt acts:

(1) On or about August 24, 2006, ROTHENBERGER
check number L009 for $1-,000.00 payable
Development;

(2) On or about, August 24, 2006, ROTHENBERGER
check number l-011 for $1,000.00 payable
Development;

drafted
To VIP

drafted
To VIP
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U.S. v. ,Jared Mitchell Rothenberger

On or about AugusL
check number L0L2
Development;

On or about August
check number 1-0L3
Development;

On or about August
check number L01-4
Development,;

On or about, AugusL
check number l-0L6
Development;

On or about August
check number L01-7
Development;

2006, ROTHENBERGER drafted
$1,000.00 payable to VIP

24, 2006, ROTHENBERGER drafted
f or $1-, 000 . 00 payable to VIP

24,
for

(3)

(4)

(s) 24,
for

2006, ROTHENBERGER dTAfECd
$L,000.00 payable to VfP

2006, ROTHENBERGER drafted
$1,000.00 payable to VIP

24'
for

(6)

(7) 24, 2006, ROTHENBERGER drafted
f or $l-, 000 . 00 payable to VIP

(8) On or about October 31, 2005, a coconspirator
deposited two checks for $2, 500.00 in connect,ion with
the sale of Chateau Ridge unit 31-3;

(9) On or about December 5, 2006, a coconspirator
deposited a check for $5,000.00 in connection with
the sale of Chateau Ridge unit 2L6i

(10) On or about February 5, 2007, ROTHENBERGER deposited
a check for $1-8,037.50 in connection wiLh the sale
of Chateau Ridge unit 208;

(11) on
a
of

or about March 8, 2007, a coconspj-rat,or deposited
check for $63,455.00 in connection with t,he sale
Chateau Ridge unit 1-1-9;

(l2l On or about March 9, 2007, a coconspirator drafted
a check for $53,936.75 payable to the buyer of Chateau
Ridge unit 1L9i

(l-3) On or about April 11, 2007, ROTHENBERGER paid a
coconspirator $L7, 000. 00 ;

(14) On or about April L7, 2007, a coconspirator obtained
cashier's check no. 05041-03368 for $17,000.00 in
connection with the sale of Chateau Ridge unit 3L5;
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U.S. v. ,fared MiLchefl RoEhenberger

(15) On or abou! April !8, 2007, a coconspirator deposited
a check for i74,580.75 in connection wit'h the sale
of Chateau Ridge unit, 3l6i

(16) On or about April 18, 2007, a coconspirator drafted
a check for $l-8,750.00 payable to ROTHENBERGER in
connection with the sale of Chateau Ridge unit 315;

(f-7) On or about July 6, 2007, a coconspirator deposited
a check for $5,000.00 in connecLion with Lhe sale of
Chateau Ridge unit 308;

(18) On or about ,Ju1y 9, 2007, ROTHENBERGER deposited a
check for $1-8,250.00 in connection wit,h the sale of
Chateau Ridge unj-t 308;

(19) On or about August 13, 2007, ROTHENBERGER paid a
coconsplrator $5,000.00 in connection with the sale
of Chateau Ridge unit LL8.

l-3. A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1349.

COIINTS 2-3
(Wire Fraud - Chateau Ridge)

L4. Paragraphs L-7 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.

l-5 . On or about the f ollowing dat.es, in the State and DistricE

of Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendant,

{IARED MITCHELIJ ROTHENBERGER'

aided and abetted by others known and unknown, having devised and

intending to devise the above descrj-bed scheme and artifice to

defraud lenders financing the sal-e of units at Chateau Ridge, and

to obtain money and property by means of materially false and

fraudulent preLenses, representations, and promises, transmitted
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U.S. v. ,fared Mitchell Rothenberger

and caused to be t.ransmit,ted by means of wire

interstate and foreign commerce the following

signals, pictures, and sounds for the purpose

scheme and artifice:

communicat,ion in

writings, signs,

of executing such

COUNT ON OR ABOUT UNIT WIRE COMMUNTCATION

2 07 /05/2007
Chateau
Ridge

Unit 308

Wire transf er of $34 0 , l-33 . 95 f rom
account xxxxxxxx26ll of Lehman
Brothers Bank/FSB Aurora Clearing
in Wilmington, DE to account
xxxxxL064 of A11 Metro Title at
Klein Bank in MinnesoLa

3 o7/t0/2007
Chateau
Ridge

Unit 1LB

Wire transfer of #275,407.04 from
account of Fieldstone Mortgage
Company at JPMorgan Chase Bank in
New York, NY to account xxxx8742 ot
Benepartum Title at Wel1s Fargo
Bank i-n Minnesota

r_34 3

1_5.

and

A11 in violation of Title l-8, United States Code, Sections

2.

COI'NT 4
(Money l,aundering)

Paragraphs 1-l-6 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

On or about July 6, 2007, in the State and District of

and elsewhere, the defendanE,

t7.

reference.

18.

Minnesota

iIARED MITCHEI.I., ROTHENBERGER,

aided and abetted by and wiI1fu1Iy causing acts by another, did

knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction

affecting j-nterstate and foreign commerce and which involved the
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U.S. v. ,fared Mitchell Rothenberger

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, t.hat is, the deposit of a

check for $5,000.00 payable to the buyer of Chateau Ridge unit 308

drawn on an account, funded with proceeds of the conspiracy and scheme

to defraud at Chateau Ridge, knowing that. the Lransaction was

designed in whole and j-n part to conceal and disguise the nature,

the location, Ehe source, the ownership, and the control of proceeds

of specified unlawful act,ivity.

19. A11 in violation of Tj-t1e 1-8, United SEates Code, SecLions

Les6 (a) (r) (B) (i) and 2.

cou}i|:r 5
(Monetary Tnansactions in Criminally Derived Property)

20. Paragraphs L-15 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.

21". On or about 'Ju1y 9, 2007, in the State and District of

Minnesot,a and elsewhere, the defendanE,

{IARED MITCHEI,I. ROTHENBERGER,

aided and abetted by another and wi1lfuI1y causj-ng acts by another,

did knowingly engage in and attempt. to engage in a monetary

transactions affecting interstate commerce in property of a value

greater than $L0,000 derj-ved from the conspiracy and scheme to

defraud at Chateau Ridge, knowing that the monetary transaction

involved proceeds of a criminal offense, that is, the deposit of a

check for $18,250.00 in connection with the sale of Chateau Ridge

unit 308.
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U.S. v. 'Jared Mitchell Rothenberger

22. A11 in violation of Tit,Ie 1-8, UniLed States Code, Sections

]-957 and 2.

The Scheme to Defraud at Cloud 9

23 . The Ctoud 9 Sky Flats ("C1oud 9" ) was a real estat'e

development in Minnetonka, Minnesota.

24. From on or about 'June !, 2007 and continuing until

approximately October 5, 2007, .fARED MITCHELL ROTHENBERGER and

others known and unknown to the grand jury conspired and agreed to

engage in a scheme to defraud through the submission of materially

false informat.ion to lenders financing sales of condominium units

at Cloud 9.

25. The scheme j-nvolved ROTHENBERGER and others finding buyers

to apply for mortgage loans to purchase units at the developmenL and

then sharing proceeds of the Loans obtained to buy the units. The

payments from loan proceeds were not fully and accurately disclosed

to lenders or described in the documentation prepared for closings

and provided to lenders.

26. It was further part of the scheme to defraud that payments

scheme participants from mortgage loan proceeds were made outside

the property sale closings.

27. Among the payments were kickbacks to buyers which amounted

to a hidden discount off the purchase price and kickbacks to other

scheme participants,

fo

of
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U.S. v. Jared Mitchell- RoLhenberger

29. The documentation regarding payment of funds in connection

with a real estate Lransaction is material informat,ion Lo a lender.

The sharing of funds outside of closing is materj-a1 information to

a lender.

29. It. was further part of the scheme to defraud that in some

transactions, scheme participants made additional materj-a1

representat,ions Lo lenders. Some loan applicat.ions falsely

represented t,hat the buyers intended to use the property as a primary

residence when in fact, the buyer intended that the property be an

investment or leased to a renter. Some loan applications falsely

represented borrower assets, 1j-abilities, other financed

properties, and the true source of down payment and earnest moneys.

conNT 6

(Conspiracy to Commit Bank and Wire Fraud - Cloud 9)

30. Paragraphs 23 -29 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.

3L. From on or about June t, 2007 and cont,inuing until

approximately October 5, 2007, in the State and District of Minnesota

and elsewhere, the defendant,

.'ARED MITCHEI.IJ ROTHENBERGER,

did unlawfully and knowingly combine, conspire, and agree with others

known and unknown to commit an offense against the United States,

namely,

Eo knowj-ngly execute and attempt to execute a scheme and
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U.S. v. ,Jared Mitchell Rothenberger

artifice to defraud federally-insured financial
instit,utions and to obtain money, funds, credits, assets,
and other property owned by and under the custody and
control of federally-insured financial instituLions, by
means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, in violation of Title 1-8,

United States Code, Section L344; and

having devised and intending to devise a scheme and
artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by
means of materially false and fraudulenL preEenses,
representations, and promises, for the purpose of
executing the scheme and artiflce, and aEtempLing to do
so, transmitEed and caused to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in j-nterstate commerce, aDY writings,
signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in violation of Tit1e
18, United States Code, Section L343.

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

32. The purpose of t,he conspiracy was to defraud lenders

financing the sale of Cloud 9 units.

!{AIiINER AI{D MEAI{S

33. The manner and means of the conspiracy included paying

Cloud 9 buyers and other participants in the scheme a kickback from

mortgage loan proceeds and failing to truthfully disclose to lenders

the sharing of loan proceeds.

34. A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section ]-349.

colt}inr 7
(Bank Fraud - Cloud 9)

35. Paragraphs 23 -29 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.

l0
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35. On or about August 1-5, 2007, in t,he State and District of

Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendanE,

iIARED MITCHEI,L ROTHENBERGER,

aided and abetted by others known and unknown, did knowingly execute

and attempt t,o execute a scheme and artifice Lo defraud and to obLain

money, funds, credS-ts, asset,s, and other property owned by and under

the custody and cont.rol of Wells Fargo Bank NA, a federally-insured

financial institution, by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representatj-ons, and promises, that is, the defendant

assisted in the securing of amortgage loan for $31-6,241-.00 for the

purchase of a unit at Cloud 9, shared in the proceeds of said Ioan,

and did not disclose said sharing of funds to the lender financing

the transaction.

37. A11 in violation of Tit1e l-8, United States Code, Sections

]-344 and 2.

cour.rrs 8-11
(Wire Fraud - Cloud 9)

38. Paragraphs 23 -29 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.

39. On or about the following dates, in the State and District

of Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendant,

iIARED MITCHELL ROTHENBERGER,

aided and abetLed by others known and unknown, having devised and

intending to devise the above described scheme and artlfice to

lt
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defraud lenders financing the sale of units aE Cloud 9, and to obtain

money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises, transmiLted and caused to

be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and

foreign commerce the following writings, sj-gns, signals, pi-ctures,

and sounds f or the purpose of execut,ing such scheme and artif j-ce:

COUNT ON OR ABOUT UNIT WIRE COMMUNICATION

I 07 /30/2007
Cloud 9

Unit 808

Wire transfer of $353,928 from
account xxxxxx958 of New

Millennium Title Group at JP
Morgan Chase Bank in Wisconsin to
account xxxx995 of Cloud 9 Real
Estate LLC at Private Bank in
Minnesota

08/os /2007
Cloud 9

Unit. 303

Wire transfer of $222,328 from
account xxxxxxx433 of Metro West
Title at Associated Bank in
Wisconsin to account xxxx995 of
Cloud 9 Real Estate LLC at Private
Bank in MinnesoLa

10 08/30/2007 Cloud 9

Unit 702

Wire transfer of $25L,7]-5 from
account xxxxxx958 of New

Millennium Title Group at ,JP

Morgan Chase Bank in Wisconsin to
account xxxx995 of Cloud 9 Real
Estate LLC at Private Bank in
Minnesota

LL to/02l2oo7 Cloud 9

Unit 501

Wire transfer of #260,1!9 from
account xxxxxxx433 of Metro West
Title at, Associated Bank in
Wisconsi-n to account xxxx995 of
Cloud 9 Real Estate LLC at Private
Bank in Minnesota

12
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40. A11 in violation of Title 18, UniLed StaLes Code, Sections

1-343 and 2.

COUNTS L2-L8
(Money Laundering)

4t. Paragraphs 23-40 are hereby realleged and incorporated by

reference.

42. On or about the following dates, in the StaLe and District

of Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendant,

.JARED MITCHEIJI, ROTHENBERGER,

aided and abeLted by and w1I1fuIIy causing acts by another, did

knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction

affecting interstate and foreign commerce and which j-nvolved Lhe

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is, the deposit of

checks drawn on an account funded wit,h proceeds of the conspiracy

and scheme to defraud at Cloud 9, knowing thaL Lhe transaction was

designed in whole and in part to conceal and disgulse the nature,

the location, the source, Lhe ownership, and the control of proceeds

of specified unlawful activity:

COUNT ON OR ABOUT UNIT FTNANCIAL TRANSACTION

t2 06/os/2007 Cloud 9

Unit 603

Check for $5,L48.33 drawn on US

Bank account xxxxxxxxxl29 payable
to Maverick Partners

L3 07 /rt/2007 Cloud 9

Unit 813

Check for $1-0,1L3.37 drawn on US

Bank account xxxxxxxxxL29 payable
to Maverick Partners

l3
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COUNT ON OR ABOUT UNIT FINANCIAL TRANSACTION

l4 o8/02/2007 Cloud 9

Unit 808
Check for i9,172.50 drawn on US

Bank account xxxxxxxxxl-29 payable
to Maverick Partners

1-5 o8/03/2007 Cloud 9

Unit, 303

Check for fi2,309.00 drawn on US

Bank accounL xxxxxxxxxl2g payable
to Maverick Partners

L6 08 / 2r/ 2007
Cloud 9

Unit l-008

Check for $8,072.50 drawn on US

Bank account xxxxxxxxxl29 payable
to Maverick Partners

L7 oe/06/2007 Cloud 9
Unit 702

Check for $5,547.00 drawn on US

Bank account xxxxxxxxxl-29 payable
to Maverick Partners

18 L0 / 0s /2007
Cloud 9

Unit 601

Clieck for #5,298.00 drawn on US

Bank account xxxxxxxxxl29 payable
to .Tared Rothenberger

U.S. v. .Iared Mitchell Rothenberger

43. A11 in violation of Tit1e l-8, United SLates Code, Sections

l-es5(a) (1) (B) (r) and 2.

coItNT 19
(Monetary Transactions in Criminally Derived ProperLy)

44. Paragraphs 23-40 are hereby realleged and incorporat,ed by

reference.

45. On or about ,Ju1y L3-, 2007, in t,he SLate and District of

Minnesot.a and elsewhere, the defendant,

iIARED MITCHEIJIJ ROTHENBERGER,

aided and abetted by another and wilIfuIly causi-ng acLs by another,

did knowingly engage in and attempt to engage in a monetary

transaction affecting interstate commerce in property of a value

greater than $l-0,000 derj-ved from the conspiracy and scheme to

14
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defraud at Cloud 9, knowj-ng t,hat. the monetary LransacLion involved

proceeds of a criminal offense, that is, the deposiL of a check for

$L0,1l-3.37 drawn on US Bank accounE xxxxxxxxxl2g in connecLion with

the sale of Cloud 9 uni-t B1-3.

46. All in violation of Title 1-8, UniLed States Code, Sections

!957 and 2.

FORFEITURE AI,I,EGATIONS

Counts 1-1-9 of this Indictment are hereby realleged and

incorporated as if fuI1y set forth herein by reference, for the

purpose of alleging forf eitures pursuant to Tit,Ie L8, United Stat,es

Code Sections 981-(a) (1) and 982(a) (1) and Tit,le 28, United States

Code, Section 2461- (c) .

As the result of the offenses alleged in Counts 1--3 and 5-Ll-

of this fndictment, the defendant,

iIARED MITCHEI.,L ROTHENBERGER,

sha1l f orf eit to the United States pursuant to Title 1-8, Unj-t,ed States

Code, SecEion geL (a) (1) (C) and Title 28, United States Code,

Section 246I(c), any and all property, real or personal, which

constit,utes or is derj-ved f rom proceeds traceable directly or

indirectly to the violations charged in Counts 1-3 and 6-L1.

As the result of the offenses alleged in Counts 4-5 and l2-I9

of this Indictment, ROTHENBERGER shall forfeit to the United States

pursuant to Title L8, United States Code, Section 982 (a) (1), any and

all propert!, real or personal, involved in the vj-olations charged

l5
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in Counts 4-5 and 12-19, and in any property traceable thereto.

If any of the above-described forfeitable property is

unavailable for forfeiture, the United States intends to seek the

forfej-ture of substitute property as provided for in Title 2l-, United

States Code, SecLion 853(p), ds j-ncorporated by Title 18, United

States Code, Section 982 (b) (1) and Title 28 United States Code,

Section 246I(c).

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

981-(a) (1) (C) , 982 (a) (1), l-343, 1344, L349, ]-956 and 1957, and Title

28, United States Code, Section 24e1 (c) .

A TRUE BILL

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOREPERSON

16
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